# TDM monograph Isavuconazole

### Summary

Indication:	<ul> <li>Treatment of adults with: invasive aspergillosis, mucormycosis in patients for whom amphotericin B is inappropriate.</li> <li>(Candida infections are exempt from this guideline and require per patient evaluation.)</li> <li>Off-label indications: treatment of children with invasive aspergillosis and mucormycosis.</li> </ul>
	Indication TDM: TDM may be considered (evidence level 4, for detailed information see monograph)
Sample material:	Serum or plasma
Time of sampling:	Trough concentration ( $C_{min}$ , just before next dose) 3 – 7 days after treatment initiation.
Storage conditions:	7 days at room temperature
Interpretation:	Reference values for the AUC <sub>24h</sub> are $60 - 233 \text{ mg}^{+}\text{h/L}$ . Steady state trough levels of 2 - 4 mg/L correspond to an AUC <sub>24h</sub> > 60 mg^{+}\text{h/L}.
Evidence level:	4 (see TDM-monografie.org)

# Contents

Summary	1
Introduction	2
Dosing guidelines	2
Indications/Criteria for TDM	3
Reference values	3
Toxicity	4
Sampling conditions	4
Additional information concerning the interpretation of results	5
Background information [extended]	5
Interactions	5
PK parameters	5
Population models	6

Literature	9
Colophon	14
Appendices	14
Revision	14

## Introduction

Isavuconazole is a broad-spectrum triazole antifungal agent and shows activity against yeasts (*Candida* spp., *Cryptococcus* spp.), moulds (*Aspergillus* spp., and several fungi of the Mucorales order) and dimorphic fungi (Coccidioidomycosis, Histoplasmosis, Blastomycosis). It is approved for the treatment of invasive aspergillosis, and mucormycosis in adult patients for whom amphotericin B is inappropriate. Isavuconazole is administered orally or intravenously as the prodrug isavuconazonium sulphate.<sup>1–4</sup>

# Dosing guidelines

#### Invasive aspergillosis / Mucormycosis

Adults:

Intravenously as infusion (in  $\geq$  1 hour<sup>3</sup>) or per os: Day 1 + 2: 200 mg three times daily (loading regimen, 6 doses in total). Day 3 and further: 200 mg once daily.<sup>3–5</sup> Isavuconazole (200 mg) is administered as isavuconazonium sulphate (372 mg), the prodrug of isavuconazole. Switching between the IV and oral formulations is acceptable; the same dose and frequency can be used and additional loading doses are not necessary.

### Dosing guidelines in children and adolescents

Isavuconazole is not approved in children aged below 18 years of age.<sup>3</sup> The pharmacokinetics and safety of isavuconazole in children have been studied in a phase 1 study in 46 paediatric patients.<sup>6</sup>

Children (offlabel) Intravenously as infusion (in ≥ 1 hour<sup>3</sup>) or per os: Day 1 + 2: 5.4 mg/kg (max. 200 mg) three times daily (loading regimen, 6 doses in total). Day 3 and further: 5.4 mg/kg (max. 200 mg) once daily.<sup>6,7</sup> Isavuconazole (200 mg) is administered as isavuconazonium sulphate (372 mg), the prodrug of isavuconazole. Switching between the IV and oral formulations is acceptable; the same dose and frequency can be used and additional loading doses are not necessary.

### Dosing guidelines in patients with altered pharmacokinetics

No dose adjustments are required in case of renal impairment, dialysis or mild to moderate liver impairment.<sup>3–</sup> <sup>5,8,9</sup> The use of isavuconazole has not been investigated in patients with severe liver impairment (Child-Pugh class C) and is not recommended for these patients unless potential benefits outweigh the risks.<sup>3</sup> For critically ill patients or patients with (morbid) obesity, no *a priori* dose adjustments are recommended but therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) may be indicated, see the relevant subsections of this monograph.<sup>10,11</sup>

# Indications/Criteria for TDM

Currently, the additional value of TDM for isavuconazole is unclear. There is insufficient clinical evidence for a correlation between the isavuconazole concentration and either efficacy or toxicity of isavuconazole.<sup>12–15</sup> The pharmacokinetics of isavuconazole are linear and appear to be predictable.<sup>13,16,17</sup> The isavuconazole exposure seems sufficient with the standard dose of isavuconazole for the treatment of invasive aspergillosis and mucormycosis.<sup>13,15,18</sup> In the SECURE trial, an isavuconazole concentration between 1 – 7 mg/L was observed for >97% of the patients (n=160) treated with isavuconazole for invasive aspergillosis or infections by other filamentous fungi.<sup>13</sup> There was no clear correlation between plasma concentrations and efficacy outcomes.<sup>13,15</sup> Similarly, in the VITAL trial, in which patients (n=37) were treated with isavuconazole for mucormycosis, a relationship between plasma concentrations and efficacy outcomes could not be identified.<sup>18</sup> The intra-individual variability is approximately 20-30% between multiple isavuconazole measurements, suggesting that isavuconazole concentrations are consistent and predictable for the majority of patients.<sup>13,14,19–21</sup>

Considering the measured isavuconazole concentrations are consistent and show minimal variability, the absence of a clear exposure-outcome association, and the efficacy and safety of isavuconazole that is shown with the standard isavuconazole dose, routine TDM for isavuconazole is not recommended.<sup>5,12–15,17,20,22,23</sup> TDM may be considered in specific circumstances or subpopulations.

TDM of isavuconazole may be considered in the following cases: 5,10,22,24-29

- Treatment of sanctuary sites of infection, such as the central nervous system (CNS);
- Infections caused by less susceptible micro-organisms (e.g. MIC >1 mg/L);
- Suspected lack of efficacy;
- Suspected non-compliance;
- Hepatotoxicity or other unexplained toxicity;
- Severe liver dysfunction;
- Drug interactions that may affect isavuconazole concentrations;
- Suspected reduced oral absorption;
- (Morbid) obesity;
- Patients < 18 years;
- Critically ill patients/Patients receiving extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO).

## Reference values

An optimal therapeutic range has not yet been established for isavuconazole and there is no clear relationship between exposure and clinical outcome.<sup>12,13,15</sup> However, in case of TDM, the following reference values should be considered: steady state trough levels of 2 - 4 mg/L,  $C_{\text{min}}$  up to 8 mg/L may be acceptable.<sup>6,11,13-15,28,30-32</sup>

The relevant PK/PD parameter for isavuconazole is AUC/MIC ratio.<sup>3,13,31</sup> Therefore, ideally an AUC of isavuconazole should be measured when TDM is performed. Reference values for the AUC<sub>24h</sub> are 60 – 233 mg\*h/L.<sup>6,15</sup> Steady state trough levels can serve as a proxy to determine the exposure of isavuconazole in clinical practice. Steady state trough levels of 2 – 4 mg/L correspond to an AUC<sub>24h</sub> > 60 mg\*h/L and are considered appropriate for *Aspergillus* infections, but trough levels up to 8 mg/L may be acceptable.<sup>6,11,13–15,28,30–32</sup> Note that *Mucor* infections may require concentrations > 4 mg/L due to higher MICs (expert opinion).<sup>33</sup>

Several pharmacokinetic studies estimated the mean exposure of isavuconazole. They showed that the standard dosing regimen in the majority of patients lead to estimated isavuconazole exposure that was sufficient to achieve the established target (AUC/MIC ratio), which was based on preclinical data.<sup>11,31,34</sup>

The relationship between the measured isavuconazole trough concentration and the efficacy and safety of isavuconazole was investigated in 231 adult patients. The median isavuconazole trough concentration in steady state was 3.2 mg/L (range: 1.7 - 11.0 mg/L) with a median exposure (AUC<sub>24h</sub> at steady state) of 90 mg\*h/L (range: 10 - 343 mg\*h/L). No statistical difference was found between isavuconazole exposure and the efficacy of the treatment (based on all-cause mortality through day 42, overall response and clinical response at end of treatment).<sup>15</sup>

#### Efficacy

For the primary treatment of suspected invasive mould disease isavuconazole was found to be non-inferior and well tolerated compared to voriconazole. All-cause mortality was 19% for isavuconazole (n=48) and 20% for voriconazole (n=52) in the intention-to-treat population.<sup>16</sup>

For the treatment of mucormycosis isavuconazole was found to show activity against mycormycosis with response rates similar to those reported for amphotericin B. In this single arm, open label study, isavuconazole was well tolerated, with an all-cause mortality of 33% for isavuconazole (n=21) and 39% for amphotericin B (n=33).<sup>18</sup>

#### Relationship with occurrence of side effects

There is insufficient clinical evidence for a correlation between the isavuconazole concentration and the occurrence of side effects or toxicity.<sup>12,15</sup>

#### Toxicity

Isavuconazole appears to be less toxic and better tolerated than voriconazole.<sup>5,8,12,16</sup> Isavuconazole showed less liver toxicity (9% versus 16%), neurological side effects (15% versus 27%) and skin disorders (33% versus 42%) compared to voriconazole and the number of drug-related adverse events was 42% for isavuconazole and 60% for voriconazole.<sup>16</sup> Gastro-intestinal complications appear to be a common side effect of isavuconazole.<sup>16,19</sup> There seems to be no clear correlation between the isavuconazole trough concentration and the occurrence of liver toxicity. Therefore, no clear upper limit for toxicity for the isavuconazole concentration is established.

In contrast to other triazoles, isavuconazole was not associated with QTc interval prolongation. Isavuconazole shortens the QTc interval in a concentration-related manner.<sup>3,12,35</sup> In a study with 26 patients, QTc interval shortening was observed for 24 patients after treatment initiation with isavuconazole. The mean decrease was 7.4% ( $36.6 \pm 38.8 \text{ ms}$ , range 7-202 ms).<sup>36</sup>

## Sampling conditions

If TDM is performed, an isavuconazole trough concentration can be collected 3 - 7 days after treatment initiation, provided that a loading dose regimen has been given.<sup>10,32</sup> Following isavuconazole administration according to licensed dosing, steady state concentrations are expected between day 3 and 7 of therapy. TDM may therefore be performed from day 3 onwards. The isavuconazole trough concentration may further increase during long-term treatment due to its long half-life (110-130 hours) or in certain patient subpopulations.<sup>19,31,37</sup>

There are no guidelines available to guide dosing of isavuconazole if TDM of isavuconazole is performed.<sup>37</sup> If a high trough concentration is measured and patients experience adverse events that could be caused by isavuconazole, a lower isavuconazole dose can be considered.<sup>38</sup> Depending on the severity of the adverse event, the dose can be adjusted from 200 mg per day to alternately 200 mg and 100 per day or 100 mg per day.<sup>38</sup> If a low trough concentration is measured, the maintenance dose may be increased and an extra loading dose of isavuconazole may be considered to achieve an adequate steady-state concentration more

rapidly. It should be taken into account that due to the long half-life of isavuconazole, steady state is reached after approximately 3 – 4 weeks after dose adjustment.<sup>37</sup> In case TDM of isavuconazole is considered, it is advised to monitor isavuconazole trough concentrations once weekly, but individual cases may require less frequent monitoring.<sup>32</sup>

## Additional information concerning the interpretation of results

## Background information [extended]

#### **Registration trials**

The SECURE trial was a phase 3, double-blind, global multicentre, comparative-group study, investigating the efficacy and safety of isavuconazole versus voriconazole in patients with an invasive fungal infection. In total, 516 adult patients were included with an invasive fungal infection. Half of these patients (n = 258) received isavuconazole, while the other half (n = 258) received voriconazole. An isavuconazole concentration between 1 - 7 mg/L was observed for >97% of the patients (n=160) treated with isavuconazole.<sup>13</sup> This study showed non-inferiority of isavuconazole compared to voriconazole for the primary treatment of invasive mould disease. Compared with voriconazole, fewer drug related adverse events were observed with isavuconazole (60% vs. 42% respectively).<sup>16</sup>

The efficacy of isavuconazole for mucormycosis was investigated in a single-arm, open label trial (VITAL study). In this study, 37 patients were included aged 18 years or older with proven or probable mucormycosis. Patients received isavuconazole as primary treatment or because amphotericin B was inappropriate. Based on the results of this study, isavuconazole showed activity against mucormycosis and was well tolerated.<sup>18</sup>

#### Pharmacodynamics

Isavuconazole is the active substance formed after oral or intravenous administration of isavuconazonium sulphate. Isavuconazole inhibits lanosterol 14-alpha-demethylase, which is responsible for the conversion of lanosterol to ergosterol, a key component of the fungal cell membrane. This weakens the structure and function of the fungal cell membrane.<sup>3,33</sup>

#### **Pharmacokinetics**

Isavuconazole is administered as a prodrug (i.e. isavuconazonium sulphate), which can be administered intravenously or orally. After administration, isavuconazonium sulphate is rapidly hydrolysed by plasma esterases to the active moiety isavuconazole.<sup>3</sup> The pharmacokinetics of isavuconazole are linear and after repeated administration both the de AUC<sub>∞</sub> and C<sub>max</sub> increase proportionality with the dose.<sup>30,39,40</sup> CRP does not seem to be associated with C<sub>min</sub>, contrary to voriconazole.<sup>30</sup>

#### **PK parameters**

	<b>F</b> (%)	<b>CI</b> (L/h <sup>-1</sup> )	$V_{d}$ (L)	<b>t</b> <sub>1/2 (</sub> h⁻¹)	Protein	T <sub>max</sub> (h)	Ref.
					Binding (%)		
Adults	> 98	2.3-2.5*	200-500	110	>99#	2-3	3,5,11

\* For Asian populations a clearance of 1.5 L/h is observed.

<sup>#</sup> Protein binding may vary in subpopulations, such as ICU patients.<sup>41</sup>

#### **Population models**

Population	Model	Vd (L)	<b>CL</b> (L/ h <sup>-1</sup> )	Ref.
		/ <b>F</b>	/ F	
Adults (healthy subjects,	Two-compartment model,	V1: 49.3 (95%CI: 46.1 – 52.2)	2.36 (95%CI: 2.25 – 2.46)	11
patients, non ICU)	IV/p.o. administration	V <sub>2</sub> : 418.1 (95%CI: 381.5 – 453.0)		
ICU patients with CAPA*	One-compartment model,	837 (95%CI: 572 – 1102)	3.97 (95%CI: 3.11 – 5.02)	22
	IV administration			
Transplant recipients <sup>¥</sup>	Two-compartment model,	V1: 57.0 (95%CI: 43.9 – 71.4)	4.22 (95%CI: 3.32 – 5.19)	34
	IV administration	V <sub>2</sub> : 465.5 (95%CI: 401.3 – 547.7)		
Adults (non ICU)	One-compartment model,	361.2 (SD: +/- 166.3)	2.5 (SD: +/- 1.6)	31
	IV/p.o. administration			

\* CAPA: Covid-19-associated pulmonary aspergillosis.

\* Solid-organ transplant recipients receiving peritransplant prophylaxis.

#### Absorption

The bioavailability of isavuconazole after oral administration is approximately 98% in adults. The absorption of isavuconazole seems to be not affected by food or acidic gastric conditions.<sup>42</sup> After oral administration the maximum plasma concentration is reached after approximately 2-3 hours, for intravenous administration the maximum plasma concentration is reached at the end of infusion (the infusion time must be at least 1 hour).<sup>3</sup> The maximum plasma concentration for both routes of administration is similar in healthy volunteers.<sup>33,43</sup>

Based on the results of two studies in adult transplant patients, isavuconazole can also be administered via enteral feeding tube by opening the capsules. Subsequently, the content of the capsules should be diluted in water and administered via the enteral feeding tube. A comparable isavuconazole concentration was found between administration via enteral feeding tube and oral or intravenous administration.<sup>44,45</sup> In paediatric patients this method resulted in reduced isavuconazole exposure, as shown in a study in 17 paediatric patients.<sup>46</sup> Administration of the intravenous solution via enteral feeding tube has shown comparable exposure to oral administration of isavuconazole capsules in adults and may therefore be a suitable alternative.<sup>47</sup>

Patients with haematological malignancies can develop mucositis due to intensive chemotherapy. In a study with 56 patients with mucositis at therapy onset who received oral isavuconazole, no significant difference was found in isavuconazole exposure compared with patients without mucositis. However, an important limitation of this study was that the severity of mucositis was not known. Although oral isavuconazole in patients with severe mucositis may be possible, intravenous administration may be preferred.<sup>48</sup>

#### Distribution

In healthy volunteers, isavuconazole is highly bound to proteins (> 99%), predominantly to albumin.<sup>3</sup> Protein binding may be decreased in subpopulations, such as ICU patients, resulting in a higher unbound fraction of isavuconazole.<sup>41</sup> Binding to or accumulation in erythrocytes is minimal.<sup>40</sup> Isavuconazole has a steady state volume of distribution of approximately 450 L and is thought to be extensively distributed in various tissues. However, the exact distribution to specific types of tissues is not known.<sup>3,11,42</sup> Therapeutic isavuconazole concentrations are expected to be achieved in the brain based on animal studies and several case-reports. Isavuconazole may poorly penetrate within an abscess.<sup>49,50</sup>

#### Metabolism

Isavuconazoniumsulphate is a prodrug that is rapidly hydrolysed to isavuconazole. Isavuconazole is metabolized in the liver by cytochrome P450 enzymes (CYP3A4 and CYP3A5) and UGT. The metabolites of isavuconazole have no antifungal activity.<sup>1,42</sup> None of the individual metabolites of isavuconazole have an AUC > 10% for the total drug-related exposure.<sup>3,40</sup>

#### Elimination

The metabolites of isavuconazole are excreted for 45.5% in urine and 46.1% in faeces. Approximately 33% of the total drug dose was recovered as unchanged isavuconazole in the faeces and < 1% of the dose was recovered in urine.<sup>40</sup> The half-life of isavuconazole in patients is estimated to be 110 hours.<sup>3,11</sup>

The clearance of the population was approximately 2.4 L/h. However, in Asian populations clearance seems approximately 36% lower compared with Caucasians and is estimated to be 1.5 L/h. It is not clear why the clearance may be lower in Asians.<sup>11</sup>

A loading dose regimen is advised for the first 48 hours due to the long half-life of isavuconazole. Without an adequate loading dose, steady-state is assumed to be reached after approximately 3 - 4 weeks.<sup>39</sup> By administering an adequate loading dose regimen, an isavuconazole concentration between 2 - 4 mg/L is rapidly reached.<sup>19</sup>

#### Paediatric population

Isavuconazole is not approved in children aged below 18 years of age.<sup>3</sup> The pharmacokinetics and safety of isavuconazole in children has been studied in a phase 1 study in 46 immunocompromised paediatric patients.<sup>6</sup> Of these patients, 27 received isavuconazole intravenously (1 to < 6 years n = 9; 6 to < 12 years n = 8; 12 to < 18 years n = 10) and 19 received isavuconazole orally (6 to < 12 years n = 9; 12 to < 18 years n = 10). For intravenous administration, patients received a loading dose of 5.4 mg/kg isavuconazole (as (10 mg/kg) isavuconazonium sulphate, cut-off for body weight ≤ 37 kg) every 8 hours for 6 doses, followed by a maintenance dose of 5.4 mg/kg (with a maximum of 200 mg) once daily. Patients > 37 kg received a loading dose of 200 mg once daily. For oral administration of isavuconazole, a cutoff for body weight of 32 kg was used instead of 37 kg (for greater dosing accuracy due to fixed capsule strength) with the same dosing regimen as for intravenous dosing of isavuconazole, administered intravenously or orally, was generally well-tolerated in children, displaying a safety profile comparable to that observed in adults. Intravenous administration resulted in a similar isavuconazole exposure to that of adults for approximately 80 – 87% of the paediatric participants and oral administration yielded a range of about 76 – 87%.<sup>6</sup>

In addition, a retrospective observational study in 15 paediatric patients with a combined total of 111 trough levels reported on the TDM of isavuconazole in real-world practice.<sup>7</sup> Patients in this study received a loading dose of 5.4 mg/kg isavuconazole (as (10 mg/kg) isavuconazonium sulphate, cut-off for body weight  $\leq$  35 kg) every 8 hours for 6 doses, followed by a maintenance dose of 5.4 mg/kg (with a maximum of 200 mg) once daily. Patients > 35 kg received a loading dose of 200 mg every 8 hours for 6 doses, followed by a maintenance dose of 200 mg every 8 hours for 6 doses, followed by a maintenance dose of 200 mg every 8 hours for 6 doses, followed by a maintenance dose of 200 mg every 8 hours for 6 doses, followed by a maintenance dose of 200 mg every 8 hours for 6 doses, followed by a maintenance dose of 200 mg every 8 hours for 6 doses, followed by a maintenance dose of 200 mg every 8 hours for 6 doses, followed by a maintenance dose of 200 mg every 8 hours for 6 doses, followed by a maintenance dose of 200 mg every 8 hours for 6 doses, followed by a maintenance dose of 200 mg every 8 hours for 6 doses, followed by a maintenance dose of 200 mg every 8 hours for 6 doses, followed by a maintenance dose of 200 mg every 8 hours for 6 doses, followed by a maintenance dose of 200 mg every 8 hours for 6 doses, followed by a maintenance dose of 200 mg every 8 hours for 6 doses, followed by a maintenance dose of 200 mg every 8 hours for 6 doses, followed by a maintenance dose of 200 mg every 8 hours for 6 doses, followed by a maintenance dose of 200 mg every 8 hours for 6 doses, followed by a maintenance dose of 200 mg every 8 hours for 6 doses, followed by a maintenance dose of 200 mg every 8 hours for 6 doses, followed by a maintenance dose of 200 mg every 8 hours for 6 doses, followed by a maintenance dose of 200 mg every 8 hours for 6 doses, followed by a maintenance dose of 200 mg every 8 hours for 6 doses, followed by a maintenance dose of 200 mg every 8 hours for 6 doses, followed by a maintenance dos

#### Elderly

No dose adjustment is necessary for elderly patients; however, the clinical experience in elderly patients is limited.<sup>3</sup>

#### Obesity

In literature, there is limited information available regarding isavuconazole exposure in patients with (morbid) obesity. Based on pharmacokinetic population models and a study in critically ill ICU patients, a potential correlation between patient weight or BMI and the volume of distribution of isavuconazole has been suggested.<sup>11,21,22,31,34</sup> In this context, the volume of distribution might increase as patient total body weight increases. Therefore, due to the lack of data on treatment with isavuconazole in patients with (morbid) obesity, TDM of isavuconazole could be considered.

#### Pregnancy and breast-feeding

There are no data on the use of isavuconazole in pregnant women. Studies in animals have shown reproductive toxicity. The potential risk for humans is unknown. Isavuconazole must not be used during pregnancy except in patients with severe or potentially life-threatening fungal infections, in whom isavuconazole may be used if the anticipated benefits outweigh the possible risks to the foetus. Available pharmacodynamic/toxicological data in animals have shown excretion of isavuconazole and its metabolites in milk. Breast-feeding should therefore be discontinued during treatment with isavuconazole.<sup>3</sup>

#### **Renal impairment**

Renal impairment (in general):	No dose adjustment of isavuconazole is necessary in patients with renal impairment, including patients with end-stage renal disease. <sup>3,5,51</sup>
Renal replacement therapy:	Isavuconazole is not removed by hemodialysis. <sup>3</sup> Evidence suggests that isavuconazole is removed by low-efficiency dialysis <sup>52</sup> , but this does not seem to apply to continuous renal replacement therapy. <sup>53</sup> However, the literature on this matter is inconclusive. <sup>25</sup> At present, adjusting the dosage of isavuconazole during renal replacement therapy is not recommended. <sup>9</sup>

#### Liver impairment

Compared to voriconazole, isavuconazole exhibits lower hepatotoxicity.<sup>16</sup> The clearance of isavuconazole appears to be reduced in cases of mild (Child-Pugh class A) and moderate (Child-Pugh class B) liver impairment (1.6 L/h and 1.3 L/h, respectively). Hence, the average trough concentration of isavuconazole is higher in individuals with mild and moderate liver impairment compared to healthy volunteers. Based on pharmacokinetic data, along with a similar adverse event profile observed in healthy volunteers and individuals with mild to moderate liver impairments, dosage adjustment of isavuconazole does not seem necessary for patients with such impairments.<sup>54</sup> The use of isavuconazole has not been investigated in patients with severe liver impairments (Child-Pugh class C) and is not recommended for these patients unless potential benefits outweigh the risks.<sup>3</sup> In cases of severe liver impairment combined with adverse effects that might be attributed to isavuconazole, TDM of isavuconazole could be considered.

#### Critically ill patients

Isavuconazole plasma concentrations and isavuconazole protein binding may vary in critically ill patients.<sup>10,21,22</sup> A study with 41 ICU patients showed C<sub>min</sub> levels < 1 mg/L in 32% of the measurements (n = 83). In addition, isavuconazole peak and trough levels were significantly lower in patients with a BMI  $\ge$  25 and with higher SOFA scores.<sup>21</sup> Subtherapeutic isavuconazole exposure may be seen in ECMO patients and an increased loading dose may be required.<sup>55</sup> Similar results were observed in a retrospective study in paediatric patient receiving ECMO (n=3).<sup>7</sup> However, it remains unclear if this may be due to the ECMO or because of critical illness itself. TDM in critically ill patients with or without ECMO could therefore be considered.<sup>24–27,56</sup>

#### Pharmacogenetics

It is unknown if pharmacogenetics lead to alterations in clearance of isavuconazole. There is no literature available suggesting dose recommendations. In individuals with CYP3A5 activity (i.e., CYP3A5 expressors), theoretically an increased metabolism of isavuconazole might be observed, potentially leading to lower isavuconazole exposure. However, there is currently no evidence suggesting that CYP3A5 activity results in inadequate isavuconazole exposure.<sup>57</sup>

#### Interactions

Isavuconazole seems to have fewer interactions than other triazoles.<sup>58–60</sup> Isavuconazole is a substrate and a moderate inhibitor of CYP3A4 and CYP3A5. Weak to moderate CYP3A4/5 inducers can reduce isavuconazole concentrations, and TDM might be considered in situations where simultaneous use of these drugs cannot be avoided.<sup>3,61</sup> Simultaneous use of strong CYP3A4/5 inducers such as rifampicin, is contraindicated, as they can decrease the AUC of isavuconazole by 90%.<sup>3,62</sup> Literature suggests that the exposure to isavuconazole might be reduced when given simultaneously with flucloxacillin. Therefore, TDM of isavuconazole is advised if the patient is simultaneously treated with isavuconazole and flucloxacillin.<sup>63,64</sup> No dosing adjustments are advised when isavuconazole is co-administered with moderate or strong CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 inhibitors. However, side effects or toxicity of isavuconazole may increase and TDM could therefore be considered.<sup>3,61,62</sup> The metabolism of various immunosuppressants (e.g. tacrolimus, sirolimus, and cyclosporine) can be inhibited by isavuconazole. The degree of inhibition is unpredictable and therefore close monitoring of the immunosuppressant is recommended.<sup>12,42,65–67</sup> Furthermore, isavuconazole is a mild inducer of CYP2B6, a slight inhibitor of P-gp, OCT2, and UGT and *in vitro,* isavuconazole is a BCRP inhibitor.<sup>3,42,68</sup>

## Literature

- 1. Miceli MH, Kauffman CA. Isavuconazole: A New Broad-Spectrum Triazole Antifungal Agent. *Clin Infect Dis an Off Publ Infect Dis Soc Am.* 2015;61(10):1558-1565. doi:10.1093/cid/civ571
- Thompson GR 3rd, Rendon A, Ribeiro Dos Santos R, et al. Isavuconazole Treatment of Cryptococcosis and Dimorphic Mycoses. *Clin Infect Dis an Off Publ Infect Dis Soc Am*. 2016;63(3):356-362. doi:10.1093/cid/ciw305
- 3. SmPC Isavuconazol. www.geneesmiddeleninformatiebank.nl. Published 2020.
- 4. Lewis JS 2nd, Wiederhold NP, Hakki M, et al. New Perspectives on Antimicrobial Agents: Isavuconazole. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2022;66(9):e0017722. doi:10.1128/aac.00177-22
- 5. Kably B, Launay M, Derobertmasure A, et al. Antifungal Drugs TDM: Trends and Update. *Ther Drug Monit*. 2022;44(1):166-197. doi:10.1097/FTD.0000000000000952
- 6. Arrieta AC, Neely M, Day JC, et al. Safety, Tolerability, and Population Pharmacokinetics of Intravenous and Oral Isavuconazonium Sulfate in Pediatric Patients. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2021;65(8):e0029021. doi:10.1128/AAC.00290-21
- 7. Fernández Ledesma B, Mendoza-Palomar N, Melendo Pérez S, et al. Isavuconazole use and TDM in real-world pediatric practice. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2023;67(12):e0082923. doi:10.1128/aac.00829-23
- 8. Sivasubramanian G, Chandrasekar PH. Efficacy and safety of Isavuconazole for the treatment of invasive Aspergillus infection an update of the literature. *Expert Opin Pharmacother*. 2022;23(5):543-549. doi:10.1080/14656566.2022.2032645
- 9. Renal Drug Database. https://renaldrugdatabase.com/monographs/isavuconazole. Published 2018.
- 10. Jansen AME, Mertens B, Spriet I, et al. Population Pharmacokinetics of Total and Unbound Isavuconazole in Critically III Patients: Implications for Adaptive Dosing Strategies. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. October 2023. doi:10.1007/s40262-023-01305-8
- 11. Desai A, Kovanda L, Kowalski D, et al. Population Pharmacokinetics of Isavuconazole from Phase 1 and Phase 3 (SECURE) Trials in Adults and Target Attainment in Patients with Invasive Infections Due to Aspergillus and Other Filamentous Fungi. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2016;60(9):5483-5491. doi:10.1128/AAC.02819-15
- 12. Klatt ME, Eschenauer GA. Review of Pharmacologic Considerations in the Use of Azole Antifungals in Lung Transplant Recipients. *J fungi (Basel, Switzerland)*. 2021;7(2). doi:10.3390/jof7020076
- 13. Kaindl T, Andes D, Engelhardt M, et al. Variability and exposure-response relationships of isavuconazole plasma concentrations in the Phase 3 SECURE trial of patients with invasive mould diseases. *J Antimicrob Chemother*. 2019;74(3):761-767. doi:10.1093/jac/dky463
- 14. Andes D, Kovanda L, Desai A, et al. Isavuconazole Concentration in Real-World Practice: Consistency with Results from Clinical Trials. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2018;62(7). doi:10.1128/AAC.00585-18
- 15. Desai A V, Kovanda LL, Hope WW, et al. Exposure-Response Relationships for Isavuconazole in Patients with Invasive Aspergillosis and Other Filamentous Fungi. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2017;61(12). doi:10.1128/AAC.01034-17
- 16. Maertens JA, Raad II, Marr KA, et al. Isavuconazole versus voriconazole for primary treatment of invasive mould disease caused by Aspergillus and other filamentous fungi (SECURE): a phase 3, randomised-controlled, non-inferiority trial. *Lancet (London, England)*. 2016;387(10020):760-769. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01159-9
- 17. Gómez-López A. Antifungal therapeutic drug monitoring: focus on drugs without a clear recommendation. *Clin Microbiol Infect Off Publ Eur Soc Clin Microbiol Infect Dis*. 2020;26(11):1481-1487. doi:10.1016/j.cmi.2020.05.037
- Marty FM, Ostrosky-Zeichner L, Cornely OA, et al. Isavuconazole treatment for mucormycosis: a single-arm open-label trial and case-control analysis. *Lancet Infect Dis.* 2016;16(7):828-837. doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(16)00071-2

- Furfaro E, Signori A, Di Grazia C, et al. Serial monitoring of isavuconazole blood levels during prolonged antifungal therapy. *J Antimicrob Chemother*. 2019;74(8):2341-2346. doi:10.1093/jac/dkz188
- 20. Risum M, Vestergaard M-B, Weinreich UM, et al. Therapeutic Drug Monitoring of Isavuconazole: Serum Concentration Variability and Success Rates for Reaching Target in Comparison with Voriconazole. *Antibiot (Basel, Switzerland)*. 2021;10(5). doi:10.3390/antibiotics10050487
- 21. Höhl R, Bertram R, Kinzig M, et al. Isavuconazole therapeutic drug monitoring in critically ill ICU patients: A monocentric retrospective analysis. *Mycoses*. 2022;65(7):747-752. doi:10.1111/myc.13469
- 22. Perez L, Corne P, Pasquier G, et al. Population Pharmacokinetics of Isavuconazole in Critical Care Patients with COVID-19-Associated Pulmonary Aspergillosis and Monte Carlo Simulations of High Off-Label Doses. *J fungi (Basel, Switzerland)*. 2023;9(2). doi:10.3390/jof9020211
- 23. Cojutti PG, Carnelutti A, Lazzarotto D, et al. Population Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamic Target Attainment of Isavuconazole against Aspergillus fumigatus and Aspergillus flavus in Adult Patients with Invasive Fungal Diseases: Should Therapeutic Drug Monitoring for Isavuconazole Be Considered as. *Pharmaceutics*. 2021;13(12). doi:10.3390/pharmaceutics13122099
- 24. Zhao Y, Seelhammer TG, Barreto EF, et al. Altered Pharmacokinetics and Dosing of Liposomal Amphotericin B and Isavuconazole during Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation. *Pharmacotherapy*. 2020;40(1):89-95. doi:10.1002/phar.2348
- 25. Zurl C, Waller M, Schwameis F, et al. Isavuconazole Treatment in a Mixed Patient Cohort with Invasive Fungal Infections: Outcome, Tolerability and Clinical Implications of Isavuconazole Plasma Concentrations. *J fungi (Basel, Switzerland)*. 2020;6(2). doi:10.3390/jof6020090
- 26. Miller M, Kludjian G, Mohrien K, et al. Decreased isavuconazole trough concentrations in the treatment of invasive aspergillosis in an adult patient receiving extracorporeal membrane oxygenation support. *Am J Heal Pharm AJHP Off J Am Soc Heal Pharm*. 2022;79(15):1245-1249. doi:10.1093/ajhp/zxac043
- 27. Mertens B, Wauters J, Debaveye Y, et al. The impact of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation on the exposure to isavuconazole: a plea for thorough pharmacokinetic evaluation. *Crit Care*. 2022;26(1):227. doi:10.1186/s13054-022-04093-y
- 28. Ullmann AJ, Aguado JM, Arikan-Akdagli S, et al. Diagnosis and management of Aspergillus diseases: executive summary of the 2017 ESCMID-ECMM-ERS guideline. *Clin Microbiol Infect Off Publ Eur Soc Clin Microbiol Infect Dis.* 2018;24 Suppl 1:e1-e38. doi:10.1016/j.cmi.2018.01.002
- 29. Buil JB, Brüggemann RJM, Wasmann RE, et al. Isavuconazole susceptibility of clinical Aspergillus fumigatus isolates and feasibility of isavuconazole dose escalation to treat isolates with elevated MICs. *J Antimicrob Chemother*. 2018;73(1):134-142. doi:10.1093/jac/dkx354
- 30. Bolcato L, Thiebaut-Bertrand A, Stanke-Labesque F, et al. Variability of Isavuconazole Trough Concentrations during Longitudinal Therapeutic Drug Monitoring. *J Clin Med.* 2022;11(19). doi:10.3390/jcm11195756
- 31. Kovanda LL, Desai A V, Lu Q, et al. Isavuconazole Population Pharmacokinetic Analysis Using Nonparametric Estimation in Patients with Invasive Fungal Disease (Results from the VITAL Study). *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2016;60(8):4568-4576. doi:10.1128/AAC.00514-16
- 32. Prof B.J. Kullberg, Prof N.M.A. Blijlevens, Dr J.J.W.M. Janssen, et al. SWAB Invasive Fungal infections 2017.
- 33. Murrell D, Bossaer JB, Carico R, et al. Isavuconazonium sulfate: a triazole prodrug for invasive fungal infections. *Int J Pharm Pract.* 2017;25(1):18-30. doi:10.1111/ijpp.12302
- 34. Wu X, Venkataramanan R, Rivosecchi RM, et al. Population Pharmacokinetics of Intravenous Isavuconazole in Solid-Organ Transplant Recipients. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2020;64(2). doi:10.1128/AAC.01728-19
- 35. Van Matre ET, Evans SL, Mueller SW, et al. Comparative evaluation of isavuconazonium sulfate, voriconazole, and posaconazole for the management of invasive fungal infections in an academic

medical center. Ann Clin Microbiol Antimicrob. 2019;18(1):13. doi:10.1186/s12941-019-0311-3

- Mellinghoff SC, Bassetti M, Dörfel D, et al. Isavuconazole shortens the QTc interval. Mycoses. 2018;61(4):256-260. doi:10.1111/myc.12731
- Stott KE, Hope WW. Therapeutic drug monitoring for invasive mould infections and disease: pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic considerations. *J Antimicrob Chemother*. 2017;72(suppl\_1):i12-i18. doi:10.1093/jac/dkx029
- Kosmidis C, Otu A, Moore CB, et al. Isavuconazole Therapeutic Drug Monitoring during Long-Term Treatment for Chronic Pulmonary Aspergillosis. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2020;65(1). doi:10.1128/AAC.01511-20
- Schmitt-Hoffmann A, Roos B, Maares J, et al. Multiple-dose pharmacokinetics and safety of the new antifungal triazole BAL4815 after intravenous infusion and oral administration of its prodrug, BAL8557, in healthy volunteers. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2006;50(1):286-293. doi:10.1128/AAC.50.1.286-293.2006
- 40. Townsend R, Kato K, Hale C, et al. Two Phase 1, Open-Label, Mass Balance Studies to Determine the Pharmacokinetics of (14) C-Labeled Isavuconazonium Sulfate in Healthy Male Volunteers. *Clin Pharmacol drug Dev.* 2018;7(2):207-216. doi:10.1002/cpdd.376
- 41. Jansen AME, Ter Heine R, Verweij PE, et al. High Variability in Isavuconazole Unbound Fraction in Clinical Practice: A Call to Reconsider Pharmacokinetic/Pharmacodynamic Targets and Breakpoints. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. October 2023. doi:10.1007/s40262-023-01311-w
- 42. Ledoux M-P, Denis J, Nivoix Y, et al. Isavuconazole: A new broad-spectrum azole. Part 2: pharmacokinetics and clinical activity. *J Mycol Med*. 2018;28(1):15-22. doi:10.1016/j.mycmed.2018.02.002
- 43. McCarthy MW, Moriyama B, Petraitiene R, et al. Clinical Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of Isavuconazole. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. 2018;57(12):1483-1491. doi:10.1007/s40262-018-0673-2
- 44. McCreary EK, Nguyen MH, Davis MR, et al. Achievement of clinical isavuconazole blood concentrations in transplant recipients with isavuconazonium sulphate capsules administered via enteral feeding tube. *J Antimicrob Chemother*. 2020;75(10):3023-3028. doi:10.1093/jac/dkaa274
- 45. Spivey J, Wrenn R, Liu B, et al. Characterization of Isavuconazole serum concentrations after enteral feeding tube administration in a hospitalized cohort: A case series. *J Clin Pharm Ther.* 2021;46(2):528-531. doi:10.1111/jcpt.13317
- 46. Bury D, Wolfs TFW, Ter Heine R, et al. Pharmacokinetic investigations of isavuconazole in paediatric cancer patients show reduced exposure of isavuconazole after opening capsules for administration via a nasogastric tube. *J Antimicrob Chemother*. 2023;78(12):2886-2889. doi:10.1093/jac/dkad324
- 47. Desai A, Helmick M, Heo N, et al. Pharmacokinetics and Bioequivalence of Isavuconazole Administered as Isavuconazonium Sulfate Intravenous Solution via Nasogastric Tube or Orally in Healthy Subjects. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2021;65(9):e0044221. doi:10.1128/AAC.00442-21
- 48. Kovanda LL, Marty FM, Maertens J, et al. Impact of Mucositis on Absorption and Systemic Drug Exposure of Isavuconazole. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2017;61(6). doi:10.1128/AAC.00101-17
- Schmitt-Hoffmann A-H, Kato K, Townsend R, et al. Tissue Distribution and Elimination of Isavuconazole following Single and Repeat Oral-Dose Administration of Isavuconazonium Sulfate to Rats. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2017;61(12). doi:10.1128/AAC.01292-17
- 50. Lamoth F, Mercier T, André P, et al. Isavuconazole brain penetration in cerebral aspergillosis. *J* Antimicrob Chemother. 2019;74(6):1751-1753. doi:10.1093/jac/dkz050
- 51. Townsend RW, Akhtar S, Alcorn H, et al. Phase I trial to investigate the effect of renal impairment on isavuconazole pharmacokinetics. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2017;73(6):669-678. doi:10.1007/s00228-017-2213-7
- 52. Lahmer T, Batres Baires G, Heilmaier M, et al. Influence of Sustained Low-Efficiency Dialysis Treatment on Isavuconazole Plasma Levels in Critically III Patients. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2019;63(11). doi:10.1128/AAC.01162-19

- Biagi M, Butler D, Tan X, et al. Pharmacokinetics and Dialytic Clearance of Isavuconazole During In Vitro and In Vivo Continuous Renal Replacement Therapy. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2019;63(12). doi:10.1128/AAC.01085-19
- 54. Desai A, Schmitt-Hoffmann A-H, Mujais S, et al. Population Pharmacokinetics of Isavuconazole in Subjects with Mild or Moderate Hepatic Impairment. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2016;60(5):3025-3031. doi:10.1128/AAC.02942-15
- 55. Hatzl S, Kriegl L, Posch F, et al. Early attainment of isavuconazole target concentration using an increased loading dose in critically ill patients with extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *J Antimicrob Chemother*. 2023;78(12):2902-2908. doi:10.1093/jac/dkad328
- 56. Kriegl L, Hatzl S, Zurl C, et al. Isavuconazole plasma concentrations in critically ill patients during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *J Antimicrob Chemother*. 2022;77(9):2500-2505. doi:10.1093/jac/dkac196
- 57. Amsden JR, Gubbins PO. Pharmacogenomics of triazole antifungal agents: implications for safety, tolerability and efficacy. *Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol*. 2017;13(11):1135-1146. doi:10.1080/17425255.2017.1391213
- 58. Echeverria-Esnal D, Martín-Ontiyuelo C, Navarrete-Rouco ME, et al. Pharmacological management of antifungal agents in pulmonary aspergillosis: an updated review. *Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther*. 2022;20(2):179-197. doi:10.1080/14787210.2021.1962292
- 59. Czyrski A, Resztak M, Świderski P, et al. The Overview on the Pharmacokinetic and Pharmacodynamic Interactions of Triazoles. *Pharmaceutics*. 2021;13(11). doi:10.3390/pharmaceutics13111961
- 60. Brüggemann RJ, Verheggen R, Boerrigter E, et al. Management of drug-drug interactions of targeted therapies for haematological malignancies and triazole antifungal drugs. *Lancet Haematol.* 2022;9(1):e58-e72. doi:10.1016/S2352-3026(21)00232-5
- 61. Yamazaki T, Desai A, Goldwater R, et al. Pharmacokinetic Effects of Isavuconazole Coadministration With the Cytochrome P450 Enzyme Substrates Bupropion, Repaglinide, Caffeine, Dextromethorphan, and Methadone in Healthy Subjects. *Clin Pharmacol drug Dev.* 2017;6(1):54-65. doi:10.1002/cpdd.281
- 62. Van Daele R, Debaveye Y, Vos R, et al. Concomitant use of isavuconazole and CYP3A4/5 inducers: Where pharmacogenetics meets pharmacokinetics. *Mycoses*. 2021;64(9):1111-1116. doi:10.1111/myc.13300
- Vangheluwe T, Van Hoecke F, Dumoulin A, et al. Broad-spectrum azoles and flucloxacillin: a dangerous match. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis Off Publ Eur Soc Clin Microbiol*. 2022;41(1):153-154. doi:10.1007/s10096-021-04333-z
- 64. Van Daele R, Wauters J, Vandenbriele C, et al. Interaction between flucloxacillin and azoles: Is isavuconazole next? *Mycoses*. 2021;64(12):1508-1511. doi:10.1111/myc.13373
- 65. Kieu V, Jhangiani K, Dadwal S, et al. Effect of isavuconazole on tacrolimus and sirolimus serum concentrations in allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplant patients: A drug-drug interaction study. *Transpl Infect Dis an Off J Transplant Soc.* 2019;21(1):e13007. doi:10.1111/tid.13007
- 66. Rivosecchi RM, Clancy CJ, Shields RK, et al. Effects of Isavuconazole on the Plasma Concentrations of Tacrolimus among Solid-Organ Transplant Patients. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2017;61(9). doi:10.1128/AAC.00970-17
- 67. Groll AH, Townsend R, Desai A, et al. Drug-drug interactions between triazole antifungal agents used to treat invasive aspergillosis and immunosuppressants metabolized by cytochrome P450 3A4. *Transpl Infect Dis an Off J Transplant Soc.* 2017;19(5). doi:10.1111/tid.12751
- Yamazaki T, Desai A, Han D, et al. Pharmacokinetic Interaction Between Isavuconazole and a Fixed-Dose Combination of Lopinavir 400 mg/Ritonavir 100 mg in Healthy Subjects. *Clin Pharmacol drug Dev.* 2017;6(1):93-101. doi:10.1002/cpdd.282

# Colophon

This guideline has been constituted by Dr. A. Veringa, hospital pharmacist – clinical pharmacologist, Dr. J. Rozema, hospital pharmacist i.t., M.L. Toren-Wielema, MSc., hospital pharmacist – clinical pharmacologist, Dr. T.H. Oude Munnink, hospital pharmacist – clinical pharmacologist, A.M.E. Jansen, MSc., hospital pharmacist i.t., Dr. R.J.M. Brüggemann, hospital pharmacist-clinical pharmacologist, Dr. M.G.G. Sturkenboom, hospital pharmacist – clinical pharmacologist/toxicologist ERT, under the auspices of TDM, Toxicology and Pharmacogenetics committee (TTF) of the Dutch Association of Hospital Pharmacists (NVZA) and the International Association of Therapeutic Drug Monitoring and Clinical Toxicology (IATDMCT) Date: [14-02-2024]

## Appendices

Not applicable

### Revision

Not applicable